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 This Addendum forms a part of the Request for Proposal and modifies the original 
solicitation package as noted below.   
 

• Proposal due date extension;  
• Modifications to RFP document; and  
• Responses to questions.    

 
 

 
Proposals are due Wednesday, September 9, 2015, and should be time stamped no later 

than 2:00 p.m. EST on this day, and delivered to the address below: 
Adam L. Smith, Esq., CPPO, CPPB, CPPM, CPP, CIPC, CISCC, CIGPM 

Chief Procurement Officer 
Department of Procurement 

55 Trinity Avenue, S.W. 
City Hall South, Suite 1900 

Atlanta, Georgia 30303 
 

***All other information remains unchanged*** 
 
 



Addendum No. 1 
Re: FC-8284, Green Acres ATL Energy Park  
August 14, 2015 
Page 2 
 
 
Acknowledgement of Addendum No. 1 
 
 Proponents must sign below and return this form with its proposal to the Department of 
Procurement, 55 Trinity Avenue, City Hall South, Suite 1900, Atlanta, Georgia 30303 as 
acknowledgement of receipt of this addendum on this _____day of _________, 2015.  
 
 
 
 

__________________________________________ 
Legal Company Name of Respondent 

 
 
 

__________________________________________ 
Signature of Authorized Representative 

 
 
 

__________________________________________ 
Title 

 
 
 

__________________________________________ 
Date 
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MODIFICATIONS ARE INDICATED IN BOLD ITALIC FACE TYPE 

PROJECT NUMBER FC-8284 GREEEN ACRES ATL ENERGY PARK 

ADDENDUM No. 1 

1. Revision to: Part 1: Information and Instructions to Respondents;  6. Proposal Deadline: 

 Change:  “Wednesday, August 19, 2015”’ 

 To Read:  “Wednesday, September 9, 2015”. 

2. Revision to: Part 2General Contents of Proposals;  (i) Financing Plan, Subsection 1.1.i.1.3: 

 Change:  “$6,800.00 per acre”’ 

 To Read:  “$0.16 cents per square foot of leased property”. 

3. Revision to: Part 5:  Ground Lease Agreement 

 a. Change Subsection 13.02 City’s Remedies to read as follows: 

13.02 City’s Remedies. Upon default by Lessee of this Lease Agreement, City may, at its option, 
notify Lessee in writing of the nature of the failure and of the City’s intention to 
terminate this Lease Agreement for default. If Lessee does not cure such default failure 
within seven (7) calendar days from the receipt of notification, or sooner if safety to 
persons is involved, or fails to provide satisfactory evidence that such default will be 
corrected within a reasonable time, the City, by written notice to Lessee and without 
notice to Lessee’s sureties, if any, shall terminate in whole or in part Lessee’s right to 
proceed with the Permitted Uses, Work, any Improvements, the Operation and 
Maintenance and/or any Services and City may prosecute the Work to completion in a 
timely manner by another service provider or by any other reasonable method which 
the City deems expedient.  Additionally, if such default occurs during construction of 
the Premises or Improvement, City may require payment of the sum of $10,000,000 by 
Lessee and/or its surety to restore the Premises to its original condition at the time of 
the Effective Date, time being of the essence,    City may take possession of and utilize 
any data, designs, licenses, equipment, materials, plant, tool, and property of any kind 
furnished by Lessee as necessary to complete, operate and maintain the ATL Energy 
Park.  City may, also, elect to pursue any other remedy that the City may have under law 
or equity. 

b. Delete Exhibit D Insurance and Bonding Requirements in its entirety, 

 Replace with Exhibit D Insurance and Bonding Requirements attached hereto. 

c. In Exhibit E Background and Program Requirements, 1. Summary, 2nd paragraph: 

 Change the first sentence to read:  “Lessee must initially size the facility to be capable of 
accepting, repurposing/reprocessing/recycling ATL generated Municipal Solid Waste, 
including but not limited to waste streams generated by  tenants, Airline operators, 
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concessionaires, employees, and the traveling public, from the North, South and 
International Terminals as well as Concourses T, A, B, C, D, E, and F, initially excluding 
International waste streams, and COA Department of Public Works (DPW) chipped yard 
trimmings (the “Baseline Feedstock”) as described herein.” 

4. The following questions and/or clarifications were requested by various Respondents: 

1. Question: We wish to request a 6-8 month extension on the due date of this 
RFP.   The current timeline is too short to adequately find and secure 
partners for this project, create design materials and to create a useful 
proforma. 

 Answer: The Proposal due date has been changed to September 9, 2015 in 
accordance with this Addendum No. 1. 

2. Question: The RFP does not provide sufficient information to allow the bidders to 
determine what the value to the bidder would be if awarded this 
project.  Can you elaborate on the ways that the Lessee will be 
compensated for this project? 

 Answer: The Lessee will not be compensated pursuant to the Ground Lease.  
Lessee is responsible for generating its own revenue streams through 
tipping fees and the sale of recycled/repurposed/reprocessed material, 
as indicated within the terms of the Ground Lease. 

3. Question: Does this contract include hauling from the airport to the facility or will 
this be a separate project. 

 Answer: As indicated within Exhibit E, Section 2.2.1 of the Ground Lease, 
delivery of the Baseline Feedstock from the airport to the facility will be 
accomplished through a separate agreement.   

4. Question: The Airport does not have a robust internal recycling infrastructure to 
collect materials for Green Acres e.g. recycling bins in common areas, 
grey water reclamation tanks, etc. Is the Airport willing to add this 
infrastructure prior to the 2017 deadline? 

 Answer: Although the City cannot commit to the addition of certain recycling 
infrastructure at the Airport, the Airport implemented its recycling 
program in December 2014 and anticipates implementing a zero waste 
policy, plan and sustainable food court initiative (SFCI) by the end of 
2015. 

5. Question: Part 2: General Contents of Proposals, Volume 1 (c) 1, states that the 
“Complete legal name of the Respondent and the name of the legal 
entities that comprise the Respondent. The Respondent must provide 
the domicile where each entity comprising it is organized, including 
entity name, brief history of the entity, contact name, address, phone 
number, and facsimile number, as well as the legal structure of the entity 
and a listing of major satellite offices.”  It will take onerous amount of 
paperwork for a large corporation to comply with this section.  Can you 
explain the information that the City is attempting to gather.  There may 
be an easier way to provide the information without overwhelming 
everyone with paper. 



3 
FC-8284, Green Acres ATL Energy Park 
Addendum No. 1 

 
 

 Answer: The Executive Summary is intended to provide “an overview of the 
Respondent’s qualifications” to design, construct, finance, operate and 
maintain the ATL Energy Park.  As such, Respondent should provide a 
narrative of the requested information.  

6. Question: Part 2: General Contents of Proposals, Volume 1 (c) 2, states that the 
“The general and specific capabilities and experience of the 
Respondent’s Team. Each Respondent must identify examples where 
team members have worked together to complete a project and discuss 
how the team was formed and how the team will function as an 
integrated unit.”  Similar to the question above, this can become an 
onerous exercise for large companies with complicated structures.  Can 
you explain the information that the City is attempting to gather.  There 
may be an easier way to provide the information without overwhelming 
everyone with paper. 

 Answer: The Executive Summary is intended to provide “an overview of the 
Respondent’s qualifications” to design, construct, finance, operate and 
maintain the ATL Energy Park.  As such, Respondent should provide a 
narrative of the requested information. 

7. Question: Does the ban on incineration include gasification?  To be clear, what I 
mean by gasification is the technology that transforms MSW into energy 
without burning it. Instead, gasification converts the materials into a gas 
by creating a chemical reaction. This reaction combines those carbon-
based materials (known as feedstock) with small amounts of air or 
oxygen, breaking them down into simple molecules, primarily a mixture 
of carbon monoxide and hydrogen, and removing pollutants and 
impurities. What’s left is a clean “synthesis gas” (syngas) that can be 
converted into electricity and valuable products. With gasification, MSW 
and other types of wastes are no longer useless, but feedstocks for a 
gasifier. Instead of paying to dispose of and manage the waste for years 
in a landfill, using it as a feedstock for gasification reduces disposal costs 
and landfill space, and converts those wastes to electricity and fuels. 
(http://www.gasification.org/page_1.asp?a=82&b=79&c=85) 

 Answer: No, please see  Exhibit E Background and Program Requirements, 
Subsection 3.3.1, 3.3.1.6 and the Conceptual Process  Graphic contained 
in Attachment B to Exhibit E. 

8. Question: a. How much waste will this site receive annually? 
b. In our calculations, an annual calendar is 260 days.  Please let us 

know if the Airport follows a different calendar. 

 Answer: a.  The City will not guarantee the amount of waste the site will 
receive annually. Please see Exhibit E Background and Program 
Requirements, Attachment A, Waste Characterization Study, 
provided for informational purposes only, for more 
information. 

b. The Airport operates twenty four (24) hours a day, seven (7) 
days a week, three hundred sixty five (365) days per year. 

9. Question: What has been the typical growth in waste at the Airport over the last 

http://www.gasification.org/page_1.asp?a=82&b=79&c=85
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decade? 

 Answer: Please see Exhibit E Background and Program Requirements, 
Attachment A Waste Characterization Study, Table 5.2 on page 52, 
provided for informational purposes only. 

10. Question: Please provide current disposal costs for each of the materials that the 
Airport requests to be reused, repurposed or recycled as part of this bid. 

 Answer: With regard to the Baseline Feedstock, assume $30 per load of 
delivered MSW from ATL and $0.00 per ton for chipped yard trimmings 
from City of Atlanta Department of Public Works. 

11. Question: How should a successful proponent calculate their DBE/EBO 
percentages? Are the based on the entire project or each component 
e.g. construction and revenue 

 Answer: Proponents calculate the goal base on each component, construction 
and revenue. 

12. Question: There are many minor changes we would want to request in the Lease, 
and would hope the City would be willing to negotiate its terms with the 
successful bidder. 

 Answer: The City is transparent regarding the terms and conditions of the 
Ground Lease and will not materially change the Ground Lease. 

13. Question: How will the recyclables delivered from the airport be collected to 
ensure there is no cross contamination of organics in the recyclables? 

 Answer: The City is currently in the process of establishing policies and 
procedures at the Airport, through its forthcoming zero waste policy, 
zero waste plan and sustainable food court initiative (SFCI), that 
address “mixing” with our tenants and concessionaires.  However, the 
Airport cannot implement these policies and procedures on the 
traveling public and will not and cannot guarantee that cross 
contamination will not occur. 

14. Question: a. What is the composition of the single stream recyclables?   
b. What commodities are acceptable materials in the single 

stream? 

 Answer: Regarding the Baseline Feedstock originating from the Airport, 
a. Please see Exhibit E Background and Program Requirements, 

Attachment  A, Waste Characterization Study, provided for 
informational purposes only. 

b. Please see Exhibit E Background and Program Requirements, 
Attachment A, Waste Characterization Study, Section 3, 
provided for informational purposes only. 

15. Question: How many tons of single stream materials are collected now? 

 Answer: Regarding the Baseline Feedstock originating from the Airport, please 
see Exhibit E Background and Program Requirements, Attachment A, 
Waste Characterization Study, Section 3, provided for informational 
purposes only, for information regarding 2012. 

16. Question: a. How many tons of source separated materials are being 
collected now?  

b. OCC (cardboard) and paper, aluminum, plastic? 
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 Answer: Regarding the Baseline Feedstock originating from the Airport, 
a. The tonnage is unknown, however the 2012 recycling rate was 

five (5) percent. 
b. Please see Exhibit E Background and Program Requirements, 

Attachment A, Waste Characterization Study, Section 3 
provided for informational purposes only. 

17. Question: Will all source separated materials, including compactor loads of OCC be 
delivered to the ATL Energy Park? 

 Answer:  Baseline Feedstock will be delivered to the ATL Energy Park in 
accordance with Exhibit E, Section 2.2.1 of the Ground Lease. 

18. Question: Will recyclables collected by airlines be delivered to the ATL Energy Park? 

 Answer:  Baseline Feedstock will be delivered to the ATL Energy Park in 
accordance with Exhibit E, Section 2.2.1 of the Ground Lease. 

19. Question: What practices will the airport put in place to insure that organics are 
not mixed with recyclables? 

 Answer: See response to Question No. 13.  

20. Question: How many total tons of waste does the airport generate annually? 

 Answer: For historical information, please refer to Exhibit E Background and 
Program Requirements, Attachment A Waste Characterization Study 
provided for informational purposes only.  

21. Question: How many tons of recyclables does the airport currently generate 
annually? 

 Answer: Please see Exhibit E Background and Program Requirements, 
Attachment  A, Waste Characterization Study, provided for 
informational purposes only. 

22. Question: How many tons of recyclables from the airport are rejected for 
contamination on an annual basis? 

 Answer: This information is not available.   

23. Question: Will the hauling of waste and recyclables from the airport remain as a 
separate contract? 

 Answer: Yes. 

24. Question: Is including a locally-based real estate developer a necessary 
requirement if all other proposal criteria are met? 

 Answer: A developer is not required. 

25. Question: Is there a restriction on a Joint Venture party assigning its contractual 
rights and obligations to another entity? 

 Answer: Please refer to the Ground Lease, Section 19 Limitations on Assignment, 
Transfer, and Subletting.  Additionally, in accordance with City Code 
Section 2-1189(d), from the date proposals are received by the Chief 
Procurement Officer through the date the contract is awarded, no 
offeror may make substitutions, deletions, additions or other changes 
in the configuration or structure of the offeror’s teams of members of 
offerors’ teams. 

26. Question: To change JV partners, must we have prior approval? From whom? 

 Answer: Yes, proponents must have prior approval by the user agency, the 
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Department of Procurement, City of Atlanta Department of Finance 
Risk Management and the Mayor’s Office of Contract Compliance, 
before making any changes to the Joint Venture team and/or 
subcontractors. 

27. Question: RFP refers to a “Developer” as a need Respondent. In the event the 
respondents meet and satisfy the qualifications to design, build and 
operate the” Park”, is a developer needed given this is a unique project, 
unlike other real estate projects? 

 Answer: A developer is not required. 

28. Question: Although the City of Atlanta is leasing the land to the selected Waste 
Management Developer, will the City request that the developer seek 
and achieve a LEED Certification for the project?  If so, what level, 
Platinum, Gold, Silver? 

 Answer: While it is the City’s Policy to achieve a LEED certification for all new 
construction and renovations it is not a requirement for the ATL Energy 
Park.  Please review the City of Atlanta’s Sustainable Building 
Ordinance number 03-O-1693, which can be found on the City’s WEB 
site. 

29. Question: As RFP is written to date, it is hard to comment on the Lease given the 

uncertainty of the complete economics of the waste streams and other 

factors. Can you provide sound business guidance? Can you provide 

more information on the requirements of the RFP, specifically: 

a. Can we use sludge which was not mentioned in the RFP?  

b. Can the bidder require that waste streams be separated 

into single-stream recycling from the Airport? 

c. Can the Lessee transload at the facility? 

d. What is the current tipping fee paid by the Airport? 

e. Does the current tipping fee paid by the city include 

transport and tipping fee? If so, in what proportion? 

f. Please clarify the economics in the RFP regarding tipping 

fees. 

g. May the Lessee negotiate the tipping fee after the 

proposal? 

h. Can you provide a complete and detailed report of the 

current waste characterization of Airport and its affiliate 

operations? 

i. Can you provide the average annual tonnage of waste 

created by the Airport and subject of this RFP? 

j. Can untreatable waste be dumped at an offsite landfill?  

 Answer: 29.  No.  The City cannot provide business guidance. 
a.  No.  Please refer to Exhibit E Background and Program 
Requirements, 3.2.7. 
b.  No. 
c.  Yes; however, the ATL Energy Park may not be used as a waste 
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transfer site. 
d.  See response to question No. 10. 
e.  Tipping fee only.  Transportation fees are paid separately. 
f.  This question is unclear and does not allow for an authoritative 
response. 
g.  Please see Exhibit E Background and Program Requirements, 
Subsection 2.2.2. 
h.  No.  However, please see Exhibit E Background and Program 
Requirements, Attachment  A, Waste Characterization Study, provided 
for informational purposes only.. 
i.  No, the Respondent is solely responsible for verification and 
validation of feedstock estimates that are the subject of this RFP.. 
j.  Yes, if the untreatable waste can be legally placed in an offsite 
landfill.  Respondent is responsible for establishing such relationship 
with the appropriate entity at the offsite landfill. 

30. Question: If permits are delayed can the required start date be pushed back from 
the current 2017 date? 

 Answer: This is a possibility if the delay is not directly attributable to the Lessee 
and the time extension is accomplished in accordance with the Ground 
Lease, i.e. (Exhibit C Design and Construction Requirements, 
Attachment 1, Section 6. 

31. Question: Can you provide the formula upon which rental value will be calculated? 

 Answer: No.  The rental value will be calculated based on the Fair Market Value 
of the actual square footage leased and as approved by the Federal 
Aviation Administration, in accordance with the Ground Lease Section 
5.02 Rent defined. 

32. Question: Would the Airport consider a minimum/maximum lease amount? All 
Capital Improvements will be funded through the JV and Respondents. 

 Answer: No. Due to Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) regulations, the 
rental value must be calculated based on the Fair Market Value of the 
actual square footage leased, as approved by the FAA and in 
accordance with the Ground Lease.  

33. Question: Can there be option renewals on the ground lease? 

 Answer: Please see Exhibit B Ground Lease Subsection 3.05. 

34 Question: Will JV have absolute rights of Ground lease for the entire period 

assuming no defaults? 

 Answer: The terms of the agreement are contained within the Ground Lease.   

35. Question: What terms of the Ground Lease will the successful proponent be 
allowed to negotiate? 

 Answer: Please see response to question No. 12. 

36. Question: Can we develop the area covered by the Ground Lease in phases? 

 Answer: Possibly, but only in accordance with the terms of the Ground Lease. 

37. Question: Can we increase the size of the Ground Lease during the term, if the 
initial lease is for less than the entire area, but additional space is 
required for expansion? 
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 Answer: Please refer to the terms of the Ground Lease.  

38. Question: In the event the Respondent requests certain information and materials 
to be “confidential”, are there any exceptions? 

 Answer: Please refer to Section 17 of Part 1 of the RFP and, additionally, Exhibit 
B, Ground Lease, Section 32 and in particular Subsection 32.02.5. 

39. Question: May the proponent attach additional pages to forms as necessary? Are 
there any formatting requirements for additional pages attached to 
forms? 

 Answer: a. Yes 
b. Additional pages must be formatted in the same manner as the 

City’s forms. 

40. Question: May a proponent submit multiple concepts for the RFP? 

 Answer: Yes.   

41. Question: A “win-win” is for the Airport to achieve its 2020 goal of Zero Waste and 
the Respondent’s business to be sustainable operating 30 years or 
longer; if selected, will the Airport consider other revenue sharing 
proposals to facilitate economic viability of the project? 

 Answer: Once Respondents offer has been evaluated and the Ground Lease 
awarded, the Respondent/Lessee may suggest additional revenue 
sharing opportunities that comply with the terms of the Ground Lease.  
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Exhibit D 

Insurance and Bonding Requirements 

(Addendum No. 1 Revision) 
 










































































